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Judgments
Case

Luis Rolando Cuscul Privaral et al. v. Guatemala, Case 642/03, Inter-American
Commission on Human Rights, Report No. 32/05, OEA/Ser.L./V/II.124, doc. 5 (2005).

Nature & Scope of
Authority

The Inter-American Commission on Human Rights is a product of the inter-American
system which emerged with adoption of the American Declaration of the Rights and
Duties of Man. The Court was created in 1959, and in 1965 it was expressly
authorized to examine specific cases of human rights violations.

Facts & Background
Law

The plaintiffs, who are all carriers of HIV/AIDS, along with representatives from
several organizations (Association for the Coordination of the Fight Against AIDS,
Association for Comprehensive Health, & The Foundation) went to the Ministry of
Health and requested that it provide a comprehensive health plan for persons living
with HIV pursuant to the General Law on the Fight Against the Human
Immunodeficiency Virus and the Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome, and the
Promotion, Protection, and Defense of Human Rights of Persons with HIV/AIDS,
Decree 27-2000.
Petitioners received no response from the Ministry of Health personally, though they
did issue a public statement announcing that it lacked the financial resources to fulfill
the legal mandate. Petitioners then went to the President of Guatemala, Mr. Alfonso
Portillo, requesting comprehensive and universal health care to all persons in
Guatemala requiring immediate medical attention. Petitioners state this request was
ignored as well.
Petitioners filed an appeal for legal protection (amparo) against the President before
the Constitutional Court with a view to "restoring the constitutional right to health
that is recognized for each and every one of us who lives with HIV/AIDS."President
responded by meeting with petitioners and informing them that he would order an
immediate special transfer of 500,000 quetzales to cover the cost of treating persons
with HIV/AIDS through the last quarter of that year. The transfer was made, but the
pharmaceuticals had been purchased only for 24 persons being treated at the San
Juan de Dios General Hospital and another 47 at Roosevelt Hospital, none of whom
were among the presumed victims.
The Constitutional Court rejected the appeal (amparo) holding that the President’s
invitation to meet with the petitioners and the order of a special budget transfer
removed the basis for a claim of ongoing injury. In response, the petitioners argue
that the Constitutional Court’s ruling never referred to the appeal´s (amparo) true
goal which was to bring the President to frame a general and universal health policy
guaranteeing the right to health care and therefore to life of persons living with
HIV/AIDS. The appeal also aimed to protect the right to life and was filed to ensure
observance of the rights enshrined in the Constitution of the Republic as well as in the
HIV/AIDS Law.
In their complaint, petitioners indicated that as of its writing, and despite the
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exhaustion of remedies before domestic courts, 12 of the 39 alleged victims were
receiving no treatment whatsoever.
Issue

Is it competent to examine the claim that Guatemala’s General Law on HIV/AIDS ,
specifically Article 35 (which reads: “On the care of persons. Any person diagnosed as
infected by HIV/AIDS shall receive immediate comprehensive care in conditions of
equal opportunity with other persons, to which end that person’s will, dignity,
individuality and confidentiality shall be respected. Health workers may not deny care
to any person living with HIV/AIDS, and shall take the recommended bio-security
measures in providing it”) as a violation of the American Convention on Human
Rights, specifically, the provisions: the right to life (Article 4); the right to humane
treatment (Article 5); the right to a fair trial (Article 8); the right to equal protection
before the law (Article 24); the right to judicial protection (Article 25); and the right to
progressive development of economic, social, and cultural rights (Article 26) in
conjunction with the obligation to respect the rights referred to in Article 1(1) of the
American Convention?

Holding

The Commission concludes that in accordance with Articles 46 and 47 of the
American Convention, it is competent to examine the claims presented by the
petitioners regarding the right to life and effective judicial protection, in relation
with the general obligation to respect all rights. The Commission found that in the
circumstances of the present petition, the right of physical integrity, along with the
economic, social and cultural rights are contained in the alleged violation of the
right of life. Finally, the Commission declared the inadmissibility of the claims
regarding an alleged violation of the right of equality before the law.

Rule, Application, and
Judgment

Case is admissible with respect to Articles 4 and 25 in accordance with Article 1 (1) of
the Convention. Notice of the decision was made to the state of Guatemala and the
petitioners. The Commission also stated that they would continue to analyze the
merits of the case, as well as publish this decision and include it in its Annual Report
to the OAS General Assembly.

Case

Jorge Odir Miranda Cortez et al. v. El Salvador, Case 12.249, Inter-American
Commission on Human Rights, Report No. 29/01, OEA/Ser.L/V/II.111, doc. 20 rev. at
284 (2000).

Nature & Scope of The Inter-American Commission on Human Rights is a product of the inter-American
Authority
system which emerged with adoption of the American Declaration of the Rights and
Duties of Man. The Court was created in 1959, and in 1965 it was expressly
authorized to examine specific cases of human rights violations.
Facts & Background 
Law



Jorge Odir Miranda Cortez was diagnosed as HIV positive toward the end of 1997.
At the time he was in the terminal stages of the disease. However, thanks to a
private donation he managed to obtain triple therapy drugs, which were
administered to him by a private physician, with evident benefits for his clinical
status. Accordingly, he decided to found the Atlacatl Association together with
other persons who were living with the virus and their families.
On January 24, 2000, the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights received a
petition filed by Carlos Rafael Urquilla alleging that they state of El Salvador, to
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Issue

Holding

the detriment of Jorge Odir Miranda Cortez and 26 other persons who are HIV
positive and are members of the Atlacatl Association, committed violations of
several provisions contained in the American Convention on Human Rights
including: the right to life (Article 4); humane treatment (Article 5); equal
protection of the law (Article 24); judicial protection (Article 25); and economic,
social, and cultural rights (Article 26), in accordance with the general obligation
set forth in Article 1(1) and the duty set forth in Article 2 of the aforementioned
international instrument. They also alleged a violation of Article 10 of the
Additional Protocol to the American Convention on Human Rights in the Area of
Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights ("Protocol of San Salvador"), as well as other
related provisions in the American Declaration on the Rights and Duties of Man
("the American Declaration") and other human rights instruments.
Prior to this suit, petitioners had instituted amparo proceedings in the
Constitutional Division of the Supreme Court of El Salvador in April 1999, claiming
violations of the same rights articulated above. The decision was issued on April
4, 2001, and the petitioners also believed that this delay was unreasonable and a
violation of their right to a fair trial and judicial protection.
Three persons died between the opening of this case and the granting of
precautionary measures. Mr. Jorge Odir Miranda Cortez and the other 23
persons who remained alive received medical care from the Salvadoran health
authorities.


Is the State’s failure to provide the petitioners with the triple therapy medication
needed to prevent them from dying and improve their quality of life 1) a violation of
their right to life, health, and well-being, or 2) cruel, inhumane, and degrading
treatment from the State. Did the Salvadoran Social Security Institute (ISSS)
discriminate against Mr. Jorge Odir Miranda Cortez and the alleged victims because
they are carriers of HIV/AIDS?
The IACHR held that the processing of the previous amparo case did not meet the
necessary conditions of simplicity and effectiveness, and thus does not comport
with international obligations concerning human rights and constitutes a denial of
effective judicial protection to the detriment of the petitioners. This is also a
violation of article 25 and article 2 in respect to all the petitioners, and article 24, in
respect to Jorge Odir Miranda Cortez specifically. The IACHR also concluded that the
Salvadoran State has not violated article 26, and decided not to render a decision
with respect to the arguments on article 4 or article 5 because of the subsidiary
nature of the corresponding arguments in this case.

Rule, Application, and In accordance with Articles 51.3 of the American Convention and the Article 45 of its
Judgment
Rule of Procedure, the Commission conveyed recommendations to the State of El
Salvador “to amend its public policies relating to HIV/AIDS with a view to developing
comprehensive policies for HIV/AIDS prevention and care, based on international
criteria for dealing with the epidemic and on the principles of respect and nondiscrimination for persons living with HIV or afflicted with AIDS. The Commission also
wishes to reiterate its satisfaction at the compliance with the recommendation on
reparations to the victims in this case” and amend legislation so as to provide that
“recourse the simplicity, promptness, and effectiveness required by the American
Convention.”
8

Case

Quebec v. Montreal; Quebec v. Boisbriand, [2000] S.C.R. 665, para. 48 (Can.).

Nature & Scope of The Supreme Court of Canada is the final court of the Canadian justice system, and
binding upon all lower courts
Authority
Facts & Background
Law





The case grew out of three separate claims. The City of Montreal refused to hire
M as a gardener-horticulturalist, and refused to hire H as a police officer, because
the pre-employment exam they both took revealed that they both had an
anomaly of the spinal column. In the second case, the City of Boisibriand
dismissed T from his position as a police officer because he suffered from Crohn’s
disease. In all instances, the medical evidence showed that the individuals in
question could still perform the normal duties of the position in question and that
they had no functional limitations.
All three of the individuals filed complaints with the Commissions des droits de la
personne et des droits de la jeunesse, alleging that the appellants had
discriminated against them on the basis of handicap. After conducting its
investigation, the Commission applied to the Tribunal des droits de la personne.
In the cases of M and T, Judge Brossard rejected the notion that a handicap could
be perceived subjectively. He held that M and T had no remedy under s. 10 of the
Quebec Charter of Human Rights and Freedoms (“Charter”) because they did not
meet the definition of handicap as their anomalies did not result in functional
limitations. In H’s case, Judge Rivet found that the assessment of a handicap
could be objective or purely subjective. She therefore concluded that the CUM’s
exclusionary policy and its decision not to hire were contrary to ss. 10 and 16 of
the Charter. The decisions of the Tribunal in the cases of M and T were appealed
and the CUM, whose appeal in the H case was pending in the Court of Appeal,
was given leave to intervene. The Court of Appeal reversed the decisions of the
Tribunal and held that M and T had been victims of discriminatory exclusion. The
CUM’s intervention was dismissed.

Issue



Holding

The Charter must be interpreted in light of both its context and its objectives. As
such the word “handicap” is not defined here as a physical or mental anomaly that
necessarily results in functional limitations but, rather, is given a
“liberal…purposive” and contextual definition that does not “necessitate the
presence of functional limitations” but rather “recognizes the subjective component
of any discrimination based on this ground.” Handicap is not merely a biomedical
condition but has socio-political implications and can exist as a perceived limitation
or social construct that results in prejudice and stereotypes. The emphasis must be
placed “on the effects of the distinction, exclusion or preference, rather than the
precise cause or origin of the handicap.”

Rule, Application, and 

Is denial of employment based on physical anomalies that do not result in
function limitations for the purposes of the employment in question a violation of
s. 10 of the Quebec Charter of Human Rights and Freedoms R.S.Q., c. C-12
(“Charter”)? The issue turns on whether these persons have a “handicap” within
the meaning of s. 10 of the Charter, and, thus, can be afforded a remedy by it.

In most cases the applicant has the burden of proving: 1) the existence of a
distinction, exclusion, or preference, 2) that the distinction, exclusion or
9

Judgment



Case

preference is based on a ground enumerated in s. 10 of the Charter, and 3) that
the distinction, exclusion or preference has the effect of nullifying or impairing
the right to full and equal exercise of human rights and freedoms. Under s. 20 of
the Charter, the onus is on the employer to demonstrate that the impugned
measure is justified because it is based on aptitudes or qualifications required for
the job.
Based on this analysis, and given the facts in these cases, there was discrimination
against M and T based on handicap for the purposes of s. 10 of the Charter.
Accordingly, the judgments of the Court of Appeal are affirmed. The cases of M
and T are referred to the Tribunal des droits de la personne for a decision as to
whether the measures of the cities of Montréal and of Boisbriand can be justified.
H’s case is returned to the Court of Appeal, in order that the matter be decided in
light of this judgment.

Bragdon v. Abbott, 524 U.S. 624 (1998).

Nature & Scope of The Supreme Court of the United States is the highest court in the country and, as
Authority
such, is binding law throughout the entire Union.
Facts & Background 
Law









Respondent Sidney Abbott was infected with HIV since 1986, but at the time the
following incidents occurred, the infection was not yet overtly symptomatic.
On September 16, 1994 she went to the petitioner, Randon Bragdon’s, office for a
dental appointment. There she disclosed her HIV status on a patient registration
form. After the examination, dentist informed Abbott that she had a cavity but
had a policy against filling cavities of HIV-infected patients, though he offered to
perform the work at a hospital with no added fee for his services, though
respondent would have to bear the cost of using the hospital’s facilities.
Respondent declined and sued petitioner under state law and §302 of the ADA,
104 Stat. 355, 42 U.S.C. § 12182 alleging discrimination on the basis of her
disability.
Section 302 of the ADA provides: “No individual shall be discriminated against on
the basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services,
facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations of any place of public
accommodation by any person who … operates a place of public
accommodation.” §12182(a). The term “public accommodation” is defined to
include the “professional office of a health care provider.” §12181(7)(F).
A later subsection qualifies the mandate not to discriminate. It provides: “Nothing
in this subchapter shall require an entity to permit an individual to participate in
or benefit from the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages and
accommodations of such entity where such individual poses a direct threat to the
health or safety of others.” §12182(b)(3).
The United States and the Maine Human Rights Commission intervened as
plaintiffs. After discovery, the parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment.
The District Court ruled in favour of the plaintiffs, holding that respondent’s HIV
infection satisfied the ADA’s definition of disability. 912 F. Supp. 580, 585—587
(Me. 1995). The court held further that petitioner raised no genuine issue of
material fact as to whether respondent’s HIV infection would have posed a direct
10



Issue(s)

Holding

threat to the health or safety of others during the course of a dental treatment.
Id., at 587—591. The court relied on affidavits submitted by Dr. Donald Wayne
Marianos, Director of the Division of Oral Health of the Centers for Disease
Control and Prevention (CDC). The Marianos affidavits asserted it is safe for
dentists to treat patients infected with HIV in dental offices if the dentist follows
the so-called universal precautions described in the Recommended InfectionControl Practices for Dentistry issued by CDC in 1993 (1993 CDC Dentistry
Guidelines). 912 F. Supp., at 589.
The Court of Appeals affirmed. It held respondent’s HIV infection was a disability
under the ADA, even though her infection had not yet progressed to the
symptomatic stage. 107 F.3d 934, 939—943 (CA1 1997). The Court of Appeals
also agreed that treating the respondent in petitioner’s office would not have
posed a direct threat to the health and safety of others. Id., at 943—948. Unlike
the District Court, however, the Court of Appeals declined to rely on the Marianos
affidavits. Id., at 946, n. 7. Instead the court relied on the 1993 CDC Dentistry
Guidelines, as well as the Policy on AIDS, HIV Infection and the Practice of
Dentistry, promulgated by the American Dental Association in 1991 (1991
American Dental Association Policy on HIV). 107 F.3d, at 945—946.



Is HIV infection a disability under the ADA when the infection has not yet
progressed to the symptomatic phase? The statute defines disability as:
“(A) a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more of the
major life activities of such individual;
“(B) a record of such an impairment; or
“(C) being regarded as having such impairment.” §12102(2).


Did the Court of Appeals, in affirming the lower court’s grant of summary
judgment, cite sufficient material in the record to determine that, as a matter of
law, the respondent’s infection with HIV posed no direct threat to the health and
safety of her treating dentist?



“From the outset… the case has been treated as one in which reproduction was
the major life activity limited by the impairment…As the Court of Appeals held,
“[t]he plain meaning of the word ‘major’ denotes comparative importance” and
“suggest[s] that the touchstone for determining an activity’s inclusion under the
statutory rubric is its significance.” 107 F.3d, at 939, 940. Reproduction falls well
within the phrase “major life activity.” Reproduction and the sexual dynamics
surrounding it are central to the life process itself.”
“For the most part, the Court of Appeals followed the proper standard in
evaluating the petitioner’s position and conducted a thorough review of the
evidence. Its rejection of the District Court’s reliance on the Marianos affidavits
was a correct application of the principle that petitioner’s actions must be
evaluated in light of the available, objective evidence.”



Rule, Application, and 
Judgment

“The statute is not operative, and the definition not satisfied, unless the
impairment affects a major life activity… The Act addresses substantial limitations
on major life activities, not utter inabilities. Conception and childbirth are not
impossible for an HIV victim but, without doubt, are dangerous to the public
health. This meets the definition of a substantial limitation…In the end, the
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disability definition does not turn on personal choice. When significant limitations
result from the impairment, the definition is met even if the difficulties are not
insurmountable.” Therefore, HIV status is a per se disability under the ADA.


“The existence, or nonexistence, of a significant risk must be determined from the
standpoint of the person who refuses the treatment or accommodation, and the
risk assessment must be based on medical or other objective evidence. As a
health care professional, petitioner had the duty to assess the risk of infection
based on the objective, scientific information available to him and others in his
profession. His belief that a significant risk existed, even if maintained in good
faith, cannot relieve him from liability.”

Case

Hoffmann v South African Airways 2000 (2) SA 628; 2001 (10) BHRC 571; (2000) 3
CHRLD 146.

Nature & Scope of
Authority

The Constitutional Court of South Africa, established in 1994, by South Africa’s first
democratic constitution. The court consists of eleven judges, headed by a Chief
Justice and Deputy Chief Justice. Currently eight of the judges are men and three are
women. Their duty is to uphold the law and the constitution, which they must apply
impartially and without fear, favour or prejudice.

Facts & Background
Law





Issue




Holding

In September 1996, appellant applies for employment as a cabin attendant with
SAA, and, at the end of the selection process, is found to be a suitable candidate.
After this process, is a subject to a medical examination, which finds him
clinically fit and suitable for employment. But, the blood test reveals his HIV
positive status, and the employer deems him, thus, unsuitable. Appellant
challenges the constitutionality of the refusal to employ him based on his HIV
status in the High Court., and claims it is unfair discrimination that violates his
constitutional right to equality, human dignity, and fair labor practices. SAA
denies these claims, stating that they were justified in this practice on the basis
of safety, medical, and operational concerns, and that they were trying to
mitigate the risk of transmission to passengers. SAA’s arguments also included 1)
the fact that this practice was aimed at detecting all kinds of disability, and did
not single out HIV positive status, 2) Life expectancy of HIV positive people was
too short to invest in training them, and 3) Other major airlines use similar
practices.
High Court agreed with SAA and found the practice to be sufficiently based on
considerations of medical, safety, and operational concerns. The appellant
appealed.
Is South African Airways’ (SAA) policy of refusing employment as cabin
attendants to people who are HIV positive a violation of the Bill of Rights?
If so, what is the appropriate relief in this case?

SAA’s testimony was not only incorrect, it conflicted with the medical evidence that
was proffered in their support. SAA’s medical expert, in an affidavit, told the High
Court that only HIV positive people who had reached the immunosuppression stage
and whose CD4+ count had dropped below 300 cells per microliter of blood were
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prone to medical, safety, and operational hazards. SAA’s assertions were, therefore,
not true of all HIV positive people, and not true of the appellant. Thus, the
Constitutional Court upheld the appeal and set aside the decision of the High Court.
The Court ordered that SAA make an offer of employment immediately to Mr.
Hoffmann, and that SAA pay the costs of the application in both the High Court and
the Constitutional Court.
In a unanimous decision written by Justice Ngcobo, the Constitutional Court held
that SAA had infringed Mr. Hoffmann’s constitutional right not to be unfairly
discriminated against. Not every person who is HIV positive poses the risks alleged
by SAA, only those who are at the immunosuppressed stage. Mr Hoffmann was not
immunosuppressed either at the time he applied for the position or when he
brought the matter to the Constitutional Court. The practice of other airlines was
not relevant in determining the constitutionality of SAA’s actions.
Justice Ngcobo held that the most appropriate remedy to grant a person who has
been denied employment as a result of unfair discrimination is instatement but
that, in the circumstances, it would not be fair to SAA to backdate the order.
The Constitutional Court upheld the appeal and set aside the decision of the High
Court. The Court ordered that SAA make an offer of employment immediately to Mr
Hoffmann, and that SAA pay the costs of the application in both the High Court and
the Constitutional Court.
Rule, Application, and
Judgment

“Legitimate commercial requirements are important but they cannot serve to disguise
stereotyping and prejudice, which have no place in this era of respect for human
dignity, compassion and understanding - ubuntu. People living with HIV have been
stigmatised and as one of the most disadvantaged groups in society deserve special
protection from our law.”

13

Legislative Materials
Statute

An Act Promulgating Policies and Prescribing Measures for the Prevention and
Control of HIV/AIDS in the Philippines, Instituting A Nationwide HIV/AIDS
Information and Educational Program, Establishing a Comprehensive HIV/AIDS
Monitoring System Strengthening the Philippine NationalAids Council, and For
Other Purposes, Rep. Act No. 8504, § 2(B)(3)(1998), pp. 35-41 (Phil.).

Nature, Scope, &
Source of Authority

The Act is a national legislative act promulgated by the Congress of the Philippines,
and, thus, is controlling throughout the entire country.

Substance

The Act enforces a national AIDS prevention program that emphasizes: 1) Public
awareness, 2) full protection of the human rights and civil liberties of those who are
HIV positive, 3) safe practices and procedures to minimize transmission, 4) harm
reduction, and 5) educational messages. Under the second prong guaranteeing
protection of human rights and civil liberties, the Act explicitly states: “Discrimination,
in all its forms and subtleties, against individuals with HIV or persons perceived or
suspected of having HIV shall be considered inimical to individual and national
interest.” The Act also specifically prohibits discrimination in the workplace, schools,
travel and habitation, public service, credit, and insurance service, hospitals, and
health institutions and burial services.

Statute

Employment Act (Act No. 73/2001) (Bah.).

Nature, Scope, &
Source of Authority

The Act is a national piece of legislation enacted by the Parliament of The Bahamas,
and, thus, controlling throughout the entire country.

Substance

The Employment Act sets out guides for standard hours of work, sick leave, vacation
leave, maternity and family leave, redundancy payments termination and of
employment and dismissal, and wages. In addition it addresses equal pay for equal
work and articulates an anti-discrimination policy in regards to those who are
HIV/AIDS positive: “No employer or person acting on behalf of an employer shall
discriminate against an employee or applicant for employment on the basis of race,
creed, sex, marital status, political opinion, age, or HIV/AIDS.”

Statute

Anti-Discrimination Act 1977 (NSW) s 49ZXB (Austl.).

Nature, Scope, &
Source of Authority

An act of the New South Wales Parliament relating to discrimination in employment
and binding over the entire jurisdiction.

Substance

The Act makes unlawful racial, sexual, and other discrimination in specific
circumstances including transphobia, homophobia, discrimination based on marital or
domestic status, age-based discrimination, discrimination against Carer’s
responsibilities, and discrimination towards those with disabilities. When explicating
14

the unlawfulness of discrimination based on disabilities, the Act specifically
referencing those who are HIV or perceived to be HIV positive: It is unlawful for a
person “by a public act to incite hatred towards, serious contempt for, or severe
ridicule of anyone actually or thought to be HIV-positive.”

Statute

African Charter on Human and Peoples’ Rights, June 27, 1981, 21 I.L.M. 58 (1982).

Nature, Scope, &
Source of Authority

A charter that emerged under the aegis of the Organisation of African Unity.
Oversight and interpretation of the Charter is the task of the African Commission on
Human and People’s Rights. In July 2004 it was incorporated into the African Court of
Justice and on January 22, 2006, the first judges of the African Court on Human and
Peoples’ Rights were elected. 53 countries have ratified the Charter.

Substance

The Charter creates a regional human rights system for Africa that recognizes
universally accepted civil and political rights, economic social and cultural rights, and
the duties and rights of groups and people. Article 3 states that everyone is equal
before the law and is required to equal protection of the law. Article 4 articulates the
right to respect for life and integrity of personhood. And Article 16 articulates “the
right to enjoy the best attainable state of physical health and mental health”: “State
parties to the present Charter shall take the necessary measures to protect the health
of their people and to ensure they receive medical attention when they are sick.”

Statute

American Convention on Human Rights, November 22, 1969 , 9 I.L.M. 99 (1969).

Nature, Scope, &
Source of Authority

An international human rights instrument adopted my many nations of the Americas
in San Jose, Costa Rica.

Substance

The convention consolidates "within the framework of democratic institutions, a
system of personal liberty and social justice based on respect for the essential rights
of man” including 1) Civil and Political Rights, 2) Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights,
and 3) Personal Responsibilities. Furthermore, it establishes that the people of the
signatory nations will be free of “any discrimination for reasons of race, color, sex,
language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, economic
status, birth, or any other social condition.”

The European Convention on Human Rights, November 4, 1950, 213 U.N.T.S. 222.
Nature, Scope, &
Source of Authority

A convention drafted by the Council of Europe. All Council of Europe member states
are party to the Convention and new members are expected to ratify the convention
at the earliest opportunity.

Substance

The Convention protects the right of peoples whose countries are signatories,
including: 1) right to life, 2) prohibition of torture, 3) prohibits slavery, servitude, or
forced labour, 4) right to liberty and security, 5) right to a fair trial, 6) prohibition of
15

retrospective criminalization, 7) right to privacy, 8) right to freedom of thought,
conscience, and religion, 9) right to expression, 10) freedom of assembly and
association, 11) right to marriage, 12) right to an effective remedy, and 13)
prohibition of discrimination, explicitly stating: “Everyone whose rights and freedoms
as set forth in this Convention are violated shall have an effective remedy before a
national authority notwithstanding that the violation has been committed by persons
acting in an official capacity.” The convention also establishes the European Court of
Human Rights which operationalizes its tenants.

Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, Mar. 30, 2007, 2515 U.N.T.S. 3.
Nature, Scope, &
Source of Authority

An international human rights instrument of the United Nations that protects the
rights and dignity of persons with disabilities. It has 153 signatories to date, and 114
parties including the European Union.

Substance

The Convention addresses 1) equality and non-discrimination, 2) women with
disabilities, 3) children with disabilities, 4) awareness-raising, 5) accessibility, 6) right
to life, 7) situations of risk and humanitarian emergencies, 8) equal recognition before
the law, 9) access to justice, 10) liberty and security of the person, 11) freedom from
torture, 12) freedom from exploitation, violence, and abuse, 13) protection of the
integrity of the person, 14) liberty of movement and nationality, 15) living
independent and community inclusion, 16) personal mobility, 17) freedom of
expression and opinion and access to information, 18) respect for privacy, 19) respect
for home and the family, 20) education, 21) health, 22) habilitation and rehabilitation,
23) work and employment, 24) adequate standard of living and social protection, 25)
participation in political and public life, and 26) participation in cultural life,
recreation, leisure, and sport. Persons with disabilities include those who have longterm physical, mental, intellectual, or sensory impairments, which in interaction with
various barriers may hinder their full and effective participation in society on an equal
basis with others.

International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Dec. 16, 1966, 999 U.N.T.S. 171.
Nature, Scope, &
Source of Authority

An international human rights instrument of the United Nations that commits its
parties to respect the civil and political rights of individuals. It has 74 signatories and
167 parties to date. It is monitored by the Human Rights Committee, a separate body
to the Human Rights Council, which reviews regular reports of States parties on how
the rights are being implemented.

Substance

A covenant that addresses the 1) right to life, 2) freedom of religion, 3) freedom of
speech, 4) freedom of assembly, 5) electoral rights, and 6) rights of due process and
fair trial.

16

International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, December 16, 1966, 993 U.N.T.S. 3.
Nature, Scope, &
Source of Authority

An international human rights instrument of the United Nations that commits its
parties to respect the civil and political rights of individuals. To date it has 70
signatories and 160 parties. The Covenant is monitored by the UN Committee on
Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights.

Substance

The Core provisions of the covenant include: 1) principle of progressive realization, 2)
labour rights, 3) right to social security, 4) right to family life, 5) right to an adequate
standard of living, 6) right to health, 7) right to free education, and 8) right to
participation in cultural life.

Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS, G.A. Res. 60/262, U.N. Doc. A/RES/60/262 (June 15, 2006).
Nature, Scope, &
Source of Authority

The Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS is a resolution adopted by the UN General
Assembly on June 2, 2006 after a comprehensive review by UN Member States of the
progress achieved in realizing the targets set out in the 2001 Declaration of
Commitment on HIV/AIDS.

Substance

The Core provisions of the Declaration include remaining gravely concerned about the
consequences of the epidemic, recognizing the need for a comprehensive response,
and reaffirming the commitment to fully implement the Declaration of Commitment
on HIV/AIDS.

Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS: Intensifying our Efforts to Eliminate HIV/AIDS,
G.A. Res. 65/277, U.N. Doc. A/65/I.77 (July 8, 2011).
Nature, Scope, &
Source of Authority

The Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS: Intensifying our Efforts to Eliminate HIV/AIDS is
a resolution adopted by the UN General Assembly on June 10, 2011 after three days
of reviewing the progress achieved towards realizing the 2001 Declaration of
Commitment on HIV/AIDS and the 2006 Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS with the
aim of intensifying the political commitment and efforts of leaders to halt and reverse
the epidemic.

Substance

The Core provisions of the Declaration include reaffirming the commitment of
Member countries to the 2001 Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS, reaffirming
commitment to the Millennium Development Goals, in particular, Goal 6, recognizing
HIV/AIDS as a global emergency, and committing to increasing national ownership of
HIV and AIDS responses.

Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS, G.A. Res. 26/2, ¶ 37 and 58,
U.N. Doc. A/RES/S-26/2 (June 27, 2001).
Nature, Scope, &

The Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS provides the guiding framework for
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Source of Authority

UNAIDS action and was adopted by the UN General Assembly on June 27, 2001. The
Commitment calls for government, civil society, the business community, and the
private sector to combine their efforts in combating the epidemic.

Substance

Paragraph 37: By 2003, ensure the development and implementation of multisectoral
national strategies and financing plans for combating HIV/AIDS that address the
epidemic in forthright terms; confront stigma, silence and denial; address gender and
age-based dimensions of the epidemic; eliminate discrimination and marginalization;
involve partnerships with civil society and the business sector and the full
participation of people living with HIV/AIDS, those in vulnerable groups and people
mostly at risk, particularly women and young people; are resourced to the extent
possible from national budgets without excluding other sources, inter alia,
international cooperation; fully promote and protect all human rights and
fundamental freedoms, including the right to the highest attainable standard of
physical and mental health; integrate a gender perspective; address risk, vulnerability,
prevention, care, treatment and support and reduction of the impact of the epidemic;
and strengthen health, education and legal system capacity;
Paragraph 58: By 2003, enact, strengthen or enforce, as appropriate, legislation,
regulations and other measures to eliminate all forms of discrimination against and to
ensure the full enjoyment of all human rights and fundamental freedoms by people
living with HIV/AIDS and members of vulnerable groups, in particular to ensure their
access to, inter alia, education, inheritance, employment, health care, social and
health services, prevention, support and treatment, information and legal protection,
while respecting their privacy and confidentiality; and develop strategies to combat
stigma and social exclusion connected with the epidemic.

Universal Declaration of Human Rights, G.A. Res. 217 (III) A, U.N. Doc. A/RES/217(III) (Dec. 10, 1948).
Nature, Scope, &
Source of Authority

The Universal Declaration of Human Rights is a UN instrument adopted by the United
Nations General Assembly after the Second World War and represents the first global
expression of a universal human rights philosophy.

Substance

The Declaration consists of 30 articles, articulating guaranteed rights, including 1)
right to security of person, 2) freedom from slavery or servitude, 3) freedom from
torture, 4) right to recognition as a person, 5) freedom from arbitrary arrest,
detention, or exile, 6) right to nationality, 7) right to social security, 8) right to work,
9) right to rest and leisure, 10) right to education, 11) right to freely participate in
cultural life of community, and 12) “right to a standard of living adequate for the
health and well-being of himself and of his family, including food, clothing, housing
and medical care and necessary social services, and the right to security in the event
of unemployment, sickness, disability, widowhood, old age or other lack of livelihood
in circumstances beyond his control.”
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Council of Europe, Parliamentary Assembly, HIV/Aids in Europe, Resolution 1536, 2007, para. 9.2.
Nature, Scope, &
Source of Authority

The Council of Europe is an international organization based in Strasbourg, France
that promotes cooperation between all countries in Europe in areas of legal
standards, rule of law, and democratic and human rights development. Founded on
May 5, 1949, the Council seeks to develop throughout Europe common and
democratic principles based on the European Convention on Human Rights and other
referenced texts on the protection of individuals. It has 47 European members, 5
observers (Council), and 3 observers (Assembly).

Substance

Paragraph 9.2: “Protect people living with HIV/Aids from all forms of discrimination in
both the public and private sectors, promote gender equality, ensure privacy and
confidentiality in research involving human subjects, and provide for speedy and
effective judicial, administrative and civil remedies in the event of a violation of the
rights of people living with HIV/Aids.”

General Assembly, Resolution 19/37, U.N. Doc. A/HRC/19/37 (Dec. 14, 2011).
Nature, Scope, &
Source of Authority

The protection of human rights in the context of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)
and acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) is a UN resolution and a report of
the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights.

Substance

Recalls and confirms commitments made in the 2006 Political Declaration on
HIV/AIDS and the 2001 Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS.

Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, Human Rights Resolution 2005/84 of 21 April 2005;
Res 2003/47 of 23 April 2003; Res 2001/51 of 24 April 2001, Res 1999/49 of 27 April 1999
and Res 1996/43 of 19 April 1996
Nature, Scope, &
Source of Authority

The protection of human rights in the context of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)
and acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) is a UN resolution and a report of
the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights.

Substance

This resolution recalls its previous resolutions and confirms commitments made in the
fight against HIV. The resolution recalls that HIV-related stigma and discrimination are
major obstacles to an effective HIV/AIDS response and that discrimination on the
basis of HIV or AIDS status, actual or presumed, is prohibited by existing international
human rights law, and that the term “or other status” in non-discrimination
provisions in international human rights texts should be interpreted to cover health
status, including HIV/AIDS.

Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, General comment no 18:
Non-discrimination (11/10/1989)
Nature, Scope, &

The Human Rights Committee publishes its interpretation of the content of human
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Source of Authority

rights provisions, in the form of General Comments on thematic issues. The
interpretation of non-discrimination focuses on article 2, paragraph 1, as well as
article 26 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political rights and its
interpretation.

Substance

As discrimination is not defined in the International Covenant on Civil and Political
Rights the Committee details its interpretation as any distinction, exclusion,
restriction or preference which is based on any ground such as race, colour, sex,
language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth
or other status, and which has the purpose or effect of nullifying or impairing the
recognition, enjoyment or exercise by all persons, on an equal footing, of all rights
and freedoms. Based on article 26, the Committee also states that the article does not
merely duplicate the guarantee already provided for in article 2 but provides in itself
an autonomous right. It prohibits discrimination in law or fact in any field regulated
and protected by the public authorities. Article 26 is therefore concerned with the
obligations imposed on States parties in regards to their legislation and the
application thereof.

UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR),
General comment No. 20: Non-discrimination in economic, social and cultural rights (art. 2, para. 2,
of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights), 2 July 2009, E/C.12/GC/20
Nature, Scope, &
Source of Authority

The Human Rights Committee publishes its interpretation of the content of human
rights provisions, in the form of General Comments on thematic issues. The
interpretation focuses on article 2, paragraph 2, of the International Covenant on
Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and its interpretation of non-discrimination.

Substance

In addition to abstaining from any discriminatory actions, governments must adopt
specific legislation that prohibits discrimination in the field of economic, social and
cultural rights. The interpretation of the term “discrimination” is understood to imply
any distinction, exclusion, restriction or preference which is based on any ground such
as race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social
origin, property, birth or other status, and which has the purpose or effect of
nullifying or impairing the recognition, enjoyment or exercise by all persons, on an
equal footing, of all rights and freedoms. It understands “other status” to be flexible
and commonly recognizes new blocs for social groups that are vulnerable and suffer
marginalization as well as people having HIV.
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Persuasive Authority
Kalceba, N., Kalibala, S., Kaseje, M., Sscbbanja, P., Anderson, S., van Praag, E., Tembo, G. and Katabira, E.,
Participatory evaluation counseling, medical, and social services of The AIDS Support Organization (TASO) in
Uganda, 9 AIDS Care, 13 (1997).
The AIDS Support Organization (TASO) is an indigenous non-governmental organization (NGO) of HIV-infected and
affected people in Uganda. TASO provides counselling, social support, medical and nursing care for opportunistic
infections at 7 centres affiliated to district hospitals in Uganda. Between 1993 and 1994, the services provided by
TASO were evaluated through a participatory approach between staff and clients. TASO counselling services helped
clients and their families to cope with HIV and AIDS, with 90.4% of clients revealing their serostatus, and 57.2%
reporting consistent use of condoms in the past 3 months. TASO was also the main source of medical care for clients
with opportunistic infections in the last 6 months (63.8%). As a result of counselling, over half of the clients (56.9%)
made plans for the future and 51.3% wished to make wills. There was a high level of acceptance of people living with
HIV/AIDS (PWAs) by families (79%) and the community (76%). Care was provided to PWAs at home mainly by
women (86.2%). TASO has demonstrated that individuals and their families are able to live positively with HIV/AIDS.
Through counselling, medical care and material support to clients and their families, TASO has effected change in
people's attitudes, knowledge and lifestyles. In particular, TASO has demonstrated a strong capacity to overcome
four problems that haunt AIDS care in most places: (1) revealing one's HIV-serostatus to relevant others; (2)
accepting PWAs in family and community; (3) seeking early treatment; and (4) combining prevention and care. In
general, TASO has shown that specialized services to meet AIDS care needs can be added to existing health services
at district levels. As a result of the participatory evaluation, a well-accepted monitoring system was established.

Maretha J. Visser, Stigmatizing attitudes of the community towards people living with HIV/AIDS. 16 J. Cmty. &
Applied Soc. Psychol., 42-58 (2006).
This paper is based on an exploratory study in which a questionnaire was used to investigate both personal stigma
and perceived community stigma regarding HIV.AIDS in a South African community. Student fieldworkers
interviewed 901 respondents from different races, gender and age groups, and found that respondents tended
towards stigmatizing persons with HIV/AIDS. Yet, this degree of stigmatization was significantly less severe than the
respondents perception of stigmatization within the community at large. Altogether 17% of the respondents had
high stigmatizing attitudes, while 42% perceived the stigmatization by others in the community to be high. Race
group, personal knowledge of someone with HIV, area of residence, gender and age group impacted on the
respondents' personal tendency to stigmatize those with HIV/AIDS.

Richard Elliott et al., HIV, disability and discrimination: making the links in international and domestic human
rights law, 12 J. Int’l AIDS Soc’y 29 (2009).
This paper aimed to examine the links between HIV and disability in order to understand how discrimination on the
basis of HIV-status can be framed as a disability issue in accordance with the United Nations Convention on the
Rights of Persons with Disabilities, and how both international and domestic human rights law can be amended to
reflect this. In order to do so, the study attempts to find the links between HIV and disability, provide a brief
overview of how international human rights law has treated both disability and HIV/AIDS, note the different ways in
which national anti-discrimination laws have reflected the links between HIV and disability and illustrate with
representative examples from a number of countries. The study closes by offering some conclusions and
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recommendations about ways forward for collaboration between HIV and disability rights advocates in advancing
human rights at the international level.

OHCHR, (2003), Human Rights in the Administration of Justice: A Manual on Human Rights for Judges Prosecutors
and Lawyers, United Nations, Chapter 3.
This report offers a basic information on international human rights law and the jurisprudence of universal and
regional bodies and national courts. Each module of the manual addresses a specific human rights area. The chapter
3 of this manual focuses on the major regional human rights instruments and the mechanisms for their
implementation. It provides a basic understanding of how these legal resources can be used by legal practitioners,
principally at the domestic level but also to some extent at the regional level, for the purpose of bringing complaints
before the monitoring organs.

UNAIDS, (2010), Making the Law Work for the HIV Response: A snapshot of selected laws that support or block
universal access to HIV prevention, treatment, care and support.
This document is a compilation of some of the laws that can help create a legal environment which enables universal
access to HIV prevention, treatment, care and support (i. protective laws) or that can block such access for people
living with HIV, sex workers and their clients, men who have sex with men and people who use drugs (i.e. punitive
laws). The snapshot provides at a glance the current situation in countries, territories and entities regarding certain
laws that either support or hinder reaching universal access to HIV. The document provides data from various
sources (updated as of July 2010) on the following laws: laws and regulations that protect people living with HIV
against discrimination; non-discrimination laws or regulations that specify protections for vulnerable
subpopulations; laws, regulations or policies that present obstacles to access to HIV prevention, treatment, care and
support for vulnerable subpopulations; HIV-specific restrictions on entry, stay or residence; HIV-specific laws that
criminalise HIV transmission or exposure; laws that criminalise same-sex sexual activities between consenting adults;
laws deeming sex work to be illegal; and laws that impose compulsory treatment for people who use drugs and/or
provide for death penalty for drug offences.
UNAIDS, (2010), Non-Discrimination in HIV responses, 26th Meeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating
Board, 22-24 June 2010, Geneva, Switzerland.
Based on the decision of the 24th meeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board to discuss the issue of nondiscrimination in 2010, this topic was included as a substantive agenda item at the 26th meeting of the UNAIDS
Programme Coordinating Board. This paper summarises the available evidence on HIV-related discrimination and
stigma and their impact on national HIV responses. It also outlines the main challenges, gaps and opportunities for
effectively reducing stigma and discrimination within national HIV responses, and highlights some examples of
action being taken by UNAIDS to support national, regional and global efforts to tackle HIV-related stigma and
discrimination.

UNAIDS, (2011), Middle East and North Africa, Regional Report on AIDS, UNAIDS.
This report on the HIV epidemic in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) shows that while the overall HIV
prevalence in the region is still low, the rise in new infections since 2011 has put the MENA region among the top
two regions in the world with the fastest growing HIV epidemic. The report shows that there has been significant
policy development and scale up of programmes indicating an increased political will in the region to address the
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AIDS epidemic. The report acknowledges the fact that a majority of countries in the region have put in place national
strategies to address AIDS and some have initiated programmes for key populations at higher risk, including sex
workers, people who inject drugs and men who have sex with men. However the report considers that these efforts
have to be strengthened. The report outlines many recommendations on how to strengthen the AIDS response in
the MENA region. These include review of the laws and policies that hinder access to HIV prevention and treatments
services, to invest smartly using an evidence-informed and human rights based approach, and the importance of
strong political leadership.

The Report of the Eminent Persons Group to Commonwealth Heads of Government, (2011), A Commonwealth of
the People: Time for Urgent Reform, Perth, Australia.
This report from the Commonwealth Eminent Persons Group (EPG) captures some recommendations to revitalize
the Commonwealth and its institutions and ensure its continued relevance to member states and their people. The
report examines options for reform that would bring the Commonwealth’s institutions into a stronger and more
effective framework of co-operation and partnership. The report stands as a landmark in the evolution of a peoplecentred Commonwealth. The report reminds the importance of the Commonwealth values focusing on
development, trade and investment, climate change and health issues including HIV. The report aims to raise
discussions among the Commonwealth by setting new priorities that are in accordance with Commonwealth values
of democracy and development, and with Commonwealth strengths. As such the report sets the advocacy on
HIV/AIDS as a Commonwealth health and economic development priority. In its recommendations the report states
that Heads of Government should take steps to encourage the repeal of discriminatory law that impede the
effective response of Commonwealth countries to the HIV/AIDS epidemic, and commit to programmes of education
that would help a process of repeal of such laws.

Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, The protection of human rights in the context
of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS), G.A., U.N. Doc.
A/HRC/19/37 (Dec. 14, 2011).
The present report is submitted pursuant to Human Rights Council resolution 16/28, in which the Council requested
the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to engage actively with the 2011 High-Level
Meeting on AIDS of the General Assembly, by providing a human rights-based perspective, and to inform the Human
Rights Council thereon. This report provides (a) an overview of the context and objectives of the Political Declaration
on HIV and AIDS adopted at the High-Level Meeting on AIDS, including information on the role that the Office of the
United Nations High Commissioner played in advocating for a human rights-based perspective; and (b) an analysis of
the 2011 Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS from a human rights perspective. The report highlights that the 2011
Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS: Intensifying our Efforts to Eliminate HIV/AIDS, represents an important
opportunity to chart a new course for the global AIDS response and advance human rights by addressing
discrimination associated with HIV-related stigma, vulnerability and risk behaviours
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